# Office of the Secretary of Public Safety

2008 Report on the Incidence of Traumatic Brain Injury in Offender Populations

> In response to: Chapter 879, 2008 Virginia Appropriations Act, Item 381 (C)





# COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA

Office of the Governor

John W. Marshall Secretary of Public Safety

November 1, 2008

The Honorable Charles J. Colgan Chairman, Senate Finance Committee General Assembly Building, Room 625 Capitol Square Richmond, Virginia 23219

The Honorable Lacey E. Putney Chairman, House Appropriations Committee General Assembly Building, Room 947 Capitol Square Richmond, Virginia 23219

#### Gentlemen:

Pursuant to Item 381 (C), Chapter 879 (2008 Acts of Assembly), I am submitting to your respective committees the 2008 Report on the Incidence of Traumatic Brain Injury in Offender Populations.

Please do not hesitate to contact me if I can provide any additional information.

John W. Marshall

# **Preface**

#### Authority for the Study

Chapter 879, 2008 Appropriations Act - Item 381 (C) of the Virginia General Assembly provides that:

The Secretary shall analyze the incidence of traumatic brain injury in the adult and juvenile state-responsible and local-responsible offender populations. Copies of the analysis shall be provided to the Chairmen of the House Appropriations and Senate Finance Committees by November 1, 2008.

#### Acknowledgements

A workgroup chaired by Barry Green, Director of the Department of Juvenile Justice prepared this analysis and report. Workgroup members from the Department of Corrections included: Terri Crisley, R.N., Robin Hulburt, Ph.D., Michael Leininger, Harvard Stevens, M.D. Members from the Department of Juvenile Justice included: Tim Joost, R.N. and Steven Peed, Ph.D. Members from the Department of Rehabilitative Services included: Mary Margaret Cash and James Rothrock. In addition, Jeffrey Kreutzer, Ph.D. and Aaron Juni, Ph.D. from the VCU/MCV Health Center and Anne McDonnell from the Brain Injury Association of Virginia served as representatives to the workgroup. The workgroup thanks the Department of Juvenile Justice Research and Evaluation Unit headed by Lynette Greenfield for their assistance in the preparation of this report.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	1
Available Data	1
Juvenile Justice Data	2
Department of Corrections Data	2
Adult and Juvenile Local Responsible Offender Populations	2
Survey of Other States	
Juvenile Justice	
Adult Offenders	3
Discussion	
Recommendations	4
Appendices	5
1. FY 2007 DJJ Head Injury Incidence Data	
2. Head Injury Histories	
3. Survey of Other States – Juvenile Justice	
4. ASCA Responses: Traumatic Brain Injury Survey – September 2008	
5. Workgroup	
• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	10

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Item 381c of the 2008 Virginia Acts of Assembly directed the Secretary of Public Safety to "...analyze the incidence of traumatic brain injury in the adult and juvenile state responsible and local responsible offender populations." The incidence, management, and treatment of traumatic brain injury (TBI) in offender populations is of concern as reports have surfaced that suggest the possibility of significant rates of TBI in this population. If this is the case, targeted interventions to identify and treat the sequelae of TBI may result in better management of incarcerated individuals and reduced recidivism.

As a result of interest in this area, representatives of the Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ), the Department of Corrections (DOC), and the Department of Rehabilitative Services (DRS) met with delegates and other interested parties beginning in early 2006. Subsequently, representatives from the Virginia Commonwealth University Health Center TBI Model System (VCU) collaborated with DJJ and developed a grant proposal to study the incidence of TBI in Virginia's juvenile justice system and to develop a model for best practices in this area. Unfortunately, this grant was not funded during the 2008 year funding cycle.

In response to the Acts of Assembly directive, the Director of Department of Juvenile Justice, Barry Green, convened a workgroup that met over the summer of 2008. Members of this workgroup included representatives from DOC, DJJ, DRS, VCU, and the TBI advocate community. This workgroup reviewed relevant professional literature in the area, collected and analyzed data from DOC and DJJ, and surveyed other states regarding their experience in this area.

The results of this effort suggest that: (1) the available data are limited and do not allow us to establish with certainty the prevalence of TBI in Virginia's offender populations; however, the available data do suggest that a significant portion of the incarcerated population may have a history that suggests the possibility of TBI. (2) while a few other states have begun to investigate the extent of this problem in their offender populations, there does not appear to be reliable data regarding incidence rates or a best practices model. (3) DOC, DJJ, and DRS do not have the necessary internal resources or expertise to conduct the research to accurately describe the scope of the problem or to develop a best practices model for these populations.

Given these findings, the workgroup's recommendation is that funding be secured for research to establish the scope of the problem and to develop a best practices model for these populations. Furthermore, the best place to begin this effort appears to be with the population of juveniles committed to Virginia's juvenile correctional centers. To advance this goal, the Director of the Department of Juvenile Justice and the Commissioner of the Department of Rehabilitative Services met with the Commonwealth Neurotrauma Initiative Board to ask that they prioritize research in this area during the 2009 funding cycle.

#### INTRODUCTION

Traumatic brain injury is implicated as a causative factor in behaviors such as aggression, impulsivity, and substance abuse that may lead to arrest and incarceration. Thus, the incidence, management, and treatment of TBI in offender populations are of concern.

In recent years, progress has been made in the classification of TBI as well as in its diagnosis and treatment in acute medical settings. In addition, the identification and treatment of individuals suffering the effects of TBI over the longer term has been recognized as an important priority. The U.S. Department of Defense and The Veterans Administration have been particularly active in this area in order to address the increased number of individuals returning to civilian life after suffering combat related TBI. Nevertheless, no universally accepted instrument is utilized to screen for TBI and the diagnosis of TBI can be complicated depending upon severity (mild, moderate, severe), length of time since injury, and population (adult, pediatric, forensic). Commonly utilized procedures to establish a TBI diagnosis include neurological evaluation, brain scan, and neuropsychological evaluation. It is obviously easier to diagnose a TBI immediately following the causative incident than it is years later.

Studies in acute care medical settings have examined such issues as the recognition of TBI and reliability of diagnosis. Available studies tend to focus on the identification and treatment of TBI near the time of injury; fewer studies have addressed identification and treatment of TBI years or decades after the injury. Following medical stabilization, psychosocial interventions to treat persons suffering from TBI tend to be customized to the needs of the individual and focus upon the behavioral and emotional sequelae of the injury including such symptoms as memory problems, anger, depression, substance abuse, etc.

Information concerning the incidence and management/treatment of TBI in offender populations is limited. Existing reports have provided a wide range of prevalence estimates. Most of these reports appear to suffer from serious methodological flaws that limit their applicability. Studies of TBI in offender populations are complicated for a variety of reasons including: the injury may be years or decades old; reliable records are often unavailable; and the usual self report reliability issues are exacerbated because of the potential for secondary gain.

#### AVAILABLE DATA

Data on the number of individuals incarcerated in DOC and DJJ who have a history that includes a diagnosis of TBI were not accessible. However, DJJ maintains a database on committed youth that has data relevant to the issue of head injury. DOC gathered head injury history data from a sample of inmates received during the month of August, 2008. These data are the available existing data that can be used to attempt to address the question of incidence of TBI in the state responsible offender populations. However, it is important to emphasize that these head injury data do not directly address the issue of the incidence or severity of TBI, which is a separate diagnosis related to head injury.

#### JUVENILE JUSTICE DATA

All youth committed to DJJ Juvenile Correctional Centers undergo medical, psychological, educational, and social evaluations at DJJ's Reception and Diagnostic Center in Bon Air, Va. Treatment needs are identified for each youth. As part of the medical and psychological evaluation process, examiners are asked to address 5 questions regarding history of head injury and episodes of unconsciousness relevant to the issue of TBI. These data are maintained within a comprehensive database managed by DJJ's Research and Evaluation Unit.

Appendix 1 presents a summary of these data for all juveniles evaluated during FY 2007 (7/1/2006-6/30/2007). The medical information suggests that 17.2% of the population had experienced a head injury and the psychological information suggests that 21.7% of the population had received medical attention due to head trauma. Furthermore, both the medical (18.2%) and psychological (17.1%) information suggest that approximately 18% of the population has experienced a loss of consciousness. While these data do not establish the prevalence or severity of TBI in this population, they do suggest that close to one in five juveniles committed to DJJ has a history that raises the possibility of TBI.

## **DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS DATA**

While DOC conducts medical and mental health evaluations for inmates received at their facilities, they do not maintain a readily accessible database relevant to the issue of TBI. Thus, examiners at seven DOC facilities gathered information regarding history of head injury and episodes of unconsciousness for all prisoners received at those facilities during August, 2008. Appendix 2 presents information on this sample of 786 prisoners.

These data suggest that 17.8% of this sample had experienced a head injury. Furthermore, 61.9% of those who had experienced a head injury had a loss of consciousness. Data were also collected regarding the cause of injury (motor vehicle accident most frequent followed by assault) and age at first injury (mean= 20.9 years). Also, data are presented by gender.

Like the DJJ data, the data from DOC do not establish the prevalence or severity of TBI in this population. Like the DJJ data, the DOC data suggest that close to one in five inmates has a history that raises the possibility of TBI.

## ADULT AND JUVENILE LOCAL RESPONSIBLE OFFENDER POPULATIONS

Data regarding TBI from locally operated jails and juvenile detention centers are not available in a centralized database. While some of these facilities may collect relevant data, obtaining meaningful data from these facilities will require resources to do research beyond the capability of this workgroup. Thus, this report does not address the issue of the incidence of TBI in these populations.

#### SURVEY OF OTHER STATES

#### JUVENILE JUSTICE

A survey was sent to the Council of Juvenile Correctional Administrators that asked: whether they were aware of any efforts in their state or elsewhere to assess/treat TBI in the juvenile justice population; if their state collected data regarding juvenile offenders with TBI; if their state collected data regarding treatment for TBI; and if their state planned to collect such data in the future. Appendix 3 provides a summary of responses to these questions as well as to follow-up questions.

23 responses were received to this survey. Only 1 response indicated an awareness of any efforts to assess/treat TBI in the juvenile justice population and 1 response indicated that their state planned to collect relevant data in the future. No one responded that their state currently collects data regarding the prevalence and/or treatment of TBI in their juvenile justice populations.

#### ADULT OFFENDERS

Appendix 4 presents the summary of results from a survey that was sent to the Association of State Correctional Administrators regarding the identification of adult offenders with TBI. Responses were received from 29 states. Twelve of these states indicated that they identified offenders with TBI. Seven of the states provided some estimate of the percentage of the confined population with TBI. These estimates ranged from less than 1% (New Jersey, Wisconsin) to a potential 80% (Florida).

#### **DISCUSSION**

Current data are indirect and limited; they do not allow one to establish the prevalence of TBI in Virginia's offender populations. The available data suggest that perhaps 20% of Virginia's state responsible juvenile and adult incarcerated populations may have a history of head injury. However, the percentage of the population that has functionally significant TBI as a result of head injury is unclear. Nevertheless, these data raise the possibility that a significant portion of the juvenile and adult incarcerated populations could be subject to the effects of TBI.

Responses to the surveys of other states do not suggest that correctional systems outside of Virginia have a better understanding of the prevalence or significance of TBI among their offender populations. While there are indications that some states are beginning to investigate these issues (e.g. Wyoming, Florida), there does not appear to be a sufficient body of knowledge available to guide policy makers. Thus, research appears warranted to establish the incidence of TBI in these populations and to develop state of the art protocols for the management and treatment of offenders who have functionally significant symptoms of TBI.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

Given the lack of information in this area, the workgroup recommends that research be undertaken to investigate the prevalence of TBI in Virginia's offender populations and to establish effective and efficient protocols for the identification and management/treatment of TBI in these populations. Initially, it is recommended that research focuses on youth incarcerated in DJJ. Such a project has several apparent advantages, including:

- all juveniles incarcerated in Virginia are evaluated at a single reception and diagnostic center
- DJJ has a comprehensive database in place that facilitates data collection
- DJJ routinely conducts comprehensive medical, psychological, educational, and social evaluations on all youth committed to state care

Because of the lack of standardized assessment and treatment protocols and the complexity of research with this population, this project requires expertise and resources beyond the current capabilities of DJJ, DOC, and DRS. Thus, it is recommended that funding be secured to engage experts with the resources to accomplish such research. In an attempt to secure funding, Mister Green and Commissioner Rothrock have made a presentation to the Commonwealth Neurotrauma Initiative Board and asked that the board prioritize research in this area during the 2009 funding cycle.

**APPENDICES** 

## Appendix 1

## FY 2007 DJJ Head Injury Incidence Data

The data presented below originates during the juvenile's assessment process at the Reception and Diagnostic Center (RDC). Every juvenile committed to the Department undergoes a thorough medical, social, psychological, and educational assessment to best determine the needs of the individual juvenile. This information is captured through the Juvenile Profile Packet (JPP). Information pertaining to head injury is documented within the JPP. The JPP for juveniles received to RDC during FY 2007 was used to generate the following data.

#### Medical Information

The following information was obtained from the Medical Form of the JPP completed at RDC.

1. Has the juvenile experienced a **head injury**?

Response	# of Juveniles	% of Juveniles
Yes	139	17.2%
No	668	82.8%
Total*	807	100.0%

<sup>\*</sup> This does not include two responses of "Not Known" and one missing response.

- 17.2% of juveniles received at RDC in FY 2007 reported an instance of head injury.
- 2. Has the juvenile experienced a loss of consciousness?

Response	# of Juveniles	% of Juveniles
Yes	146	18.2%
No	658	81.8%
Total*	804	100.0%

<sup>\*</sup> This does not include six responses of "Not Known".

• 18.2% of juveniles received at RDC in FY 2007 reported a loss of consciousness in their medical history.

3. Has the juvenile experienced seizures?

Response	# of Juveniles	% of Juveniles
Yes	28	3.5%
No	782	96.5%
Total	810	100.0%

• 3.5% of juveniles received at RDC in FY 2007 reported seizure(s) in their medical history.

# <u>Psychological Information</u>

The following information was obtained from the Psychological Form of the JPP completed at RDC.

1. How many times has the juvenile **lost consciousness due to head trauma**?

Response	# of Juveniles	% of Juveniles
0	622	82.5%
1	105	13.9%
2	23	3.1%
3	2	0.3%
4	0	0.0%
5	2	0.3%
Total*	754	100.0%

<sup>\*</sup> This does not include 71 missing responses.

- 17.5% of juveniles received at RDC in FY 2007 had lost consciousness due to head trauma at least one time.
- 2. Has the juvenile received medical attention due to head trauma?

Bachanca	# of	% of
Response	Juveniles	Juveniles
Yes	164	21.7%
No	592	78.3%
Total*	756	100.0%
A T		

<sup>\*</sup> This does not include 69 missing responses.

• 21.7% of juveniles reported they had received medical attention due to some type of head trauma.

Appendix 2

**Head Injury Histories among Newly Received Offenders (August 2008)** 

	j iteeerved errenders (riagust 2000)			
Institution	Frequency	Receptions	% Injury	
Fluvanna Correctional Center for				
Women	12	76	15.8%	
Southampton Womens Work Center	0	43	0.0%	
Bland Correctional Center	17	30	56.7%	
Powhatan Reception Center	50	189	26.5%	
Coffewood Correctional Center	6	16	37.5%	
Mecklenburg Correctional Center	44	402	10.9%	
Haynesville Correctional Center	11	30	36.7%	
Total	140	786	17.8%	

Race	Frequency	Percent
Black	62	44.3%
White	75	53.6%
Other	3	2.1%
Total	140	

Cause of Injury	Frequency	Percent	% Loss Consciousness
Motor Vehicle Accident	52	37.1%	41.0%
Assault	42	30.0%	26.5%
Fall	21	15.0%	18.1%
Accident	15	10.7%	7.2%
Other	8	5.7%	6.0%
Medical	2	1.4%	1.2%
Total	140		83

Loss of Consciousness	Frequency	Percent
No	51	38.1%
Yes	83	61.9%
Total	134	100.0%
Unknown	6	4.3%
Overall Total	140	

Number of injuries	Frequency	Percent
1	107	76.4%
2	22	15.7%
3	9	6.4%
4	1	0.7%
6	1	0.7%
Total	140	

Age Data	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean
Current Age	140	8	70	36.5
Age at First Injury	135	1	51	20.9

**Head Injury Histories among Selected Receptions to DOC** by Gender

Gender	Cause of Injury	Frequency	Percent
Male	Motor Vehicle Accident	46	35.9%
	Assault	41	32.0%
	Fall	19	14.8%
	Accident	13	10.2%
	Other	8	6.3%
	Medical	1	0.8%
	Total	128	

Female	Motor Vehicle Accident	6	50.0%
	Assault	1	8.3%
	Fall	2	16.7%
	Accident	2	16.7%
	Medical	1	8.3%
	Total	12	

Gender	Loss of conscioueness?	Frequency	Percent
Male	No	46	37.7%
	Yes	76	62.3%
	Total	122	
	Unknown	6	4.7%
Female	No	5	41.7%
	Yes	7	58.3%
	Total	12	

Gender	Number of injuries	Frequency	Percent
Male	1	100	78.1%
	2	19	14.8%
	3	7	5.5%
	4	1	0.8%
	6	1	0.8%
	Total	128	
Female	1	7	58.3%
	2	3	25.0%
	3	2	16.7%
	Total	12	

Gender	Age Data	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean
Male	Current Age	128	8	66	36.19
	Age at injury	123	1	51	20.66

## Appendix 3

## **Survey of Other States – Juvenile Justice**

Virginia DJJ developed a web-based survey to determine the scope of assessment and/or treatment of traumatic brain injuries in the juvenile justice system. Using the Council for Juvenile Correctional Administrators distribution list, juvenile justice administrators from each state were requested to complete the survey. A total of 23 state juvenile justice administrators accessed the survey, however most did not complete the short survey.

#### Survey Results

1. Are you aware of any efforts in your State or elsewhere to assess and/or treat TBI in the juvenile justice population?

Responses		% of State Responses
Yes	1	4.3%
No	10	43.5%
No Response	12	52.2%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

- Only one State responded that they were aware of efforts to assess and/or treat traumatic brain injury.
- 1a. Please provide a brief description of any efforts to assess and/or treat TBI.

Responses	# of State Responses	% of State Responses
Responded	2	8.7%
Did not repond	21	91.3%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

- Two states provided brief descriptions of their efforts regarding TBI.
- "When DJJ youth are institutionalized to long term treatment, the mental health clinician asks the youth if they have any TBI. This is noted on their mental health assessment and if any follow up is needed, they are referred to the medical department."
- "The assessment process is an informal assessment for youth who enter our Reception and Diagnostic Unit within the Juvenile Correctional Facilities. The assessment is made by the medical department and the psychologist with the unit. We do not use a formal assessment just a review of the youth's file from the community and self report. We are not collecting data in a formal manner."

1b. Please provide a person to contact regarding these efforts.

Responses	# of State	, o oi oiaio
Responded	Responses 0	0.0%
Did not repond	23	100.0%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

- None of the juvenile justice administrators provided contact information pertaining to TBI.
- 2. Does your State currently collect data regarding juvenile offenders with TBI?

Responses		% of State Responses
Yes	0	0.0%
No	11	47.8%
No Response	12	52.2%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

- Nearly half of the responses indicated that they were not currently collecting data regarding TBI in juvenile offenders.
- 2a. How does your State define TBI?

Responses	# of State Responses	% of State Responses
Responded	1	4.3%
Did not repond	22	95.7%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

- One state defines TBI based on a "Medical diagnosis by a M.D."
- 2b. How is the data collected?

Responses	# of State	% of State
Responses	Responses	Responses
Self-Report	0	0.0%
Medical Records	0	0.0%
Testing	0	0.0%
Other	0	0.0%
Did not repond	23	100.0%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

2c. Please define other methods used to collect data.

Responses		% of State Responses
Responded	0	0.0%
Did not repond	23	100.0%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

2d. What specific variables/questions are used to identify TBI?

Responses		% of State Responses
Responded	1	4.3%
Did not repond	22	95.7%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

- One state uses a medical examination to identify a juvenile with TBI.
- 2e. If a juvenile offender had a TBI prior to his/her involvement with the juvenile justice system, would this individual's TBI information be captured in your database?

Responses		% of State Responses
Yes	1	4.3%
No	0	0.0%
No Response	22	95.7%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

- One respondent indicated that information concerning a juvenile's history of TBI may be located in their medical record in written form.
- 2f. If a juvenile offender had a TBI while involved with the juvenile justice system, would this individual's TBI information be captured in your database?

Responses	# of State Responses	
Yes	1	4.3%
No	0	0.0%
No Response	22	95.7%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

• In response, one state indicated that the occurrence of a TBI while involved in the juvenile justice system may be recorded in the juvenile's medical record.

2g. What percentage of your committed population had a TBI? (Please specify the year)

Responses	# of State Responses	% of State Responses
Responded	0	0.0%
Did not repond	23	100.0%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

2h. Has your State had any juveniles experience a TBI while in a juvenile correctional facility?

Responses		% of State Responses
Yes	0	0.0%
No	0	0.0%
No Response	23	100.0%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

3. Does your state collect data regarding treatment provided for a TBI?

Responses		% of State Responses
Yes	0	0.0%
No	2	8.7%
No Response	21	91.3%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

- Of those responding to this questions, both indicated that their state does not currently collect data related to TBI.
- 3a. What specific variables/questions are used regarding treatment of TBI?

Responses		% of State Responses
Responded	0	0.0%
Did not repond	23	100.0%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

4. Does your State plan to collect this data in the future?

Responses	# of State Responses	% of State Responses
Yes	1	4.3%
No	1	4.3%
Don't Know	8	34.8%
No Response	13	56.5%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

- The majority of respondents indicated that they are not aware of efforts to begin collecting TBI data, while one state indicated that they may capture this information at some point in the future.
- 5. Please provide, if possible, a contact person for additional information regarding data.

Responses	# of State	% of State
	Responses	Responses
Name	5	21.7%
Title	5	21.7%
Address	5	21.7%
City	5	21.7%
State	5	21.7%
Zip Code	5	21.7%
Phone Number	5	21.7%
Email Address	5	21.7%
No Response	18	78.3%
Total Respondents	23	100.0%

# Appendix 4

ASCA Responses: Traumatic Brain Injury Survey - September 2008

					O STATE OF THE PARTY OF		If we please answer the following guestions	. 1	
Jurisdiction:	Name:	Email Address:	Phone Number:	Title:	Has your state identified offenders with Traumatic Brain injury (TB1)?	a. How was TBI defined?	b. How were the offenders identified?	c. What number and % of the confined population had a 181?	What strategies, if any, are being considered or implemented to address this population?
Alabama	Marcia Twat	marcia twatigldo: alabana gov	334.353.9538	Administrative Analyst	2				None at this time that I am aware of, however, I believe that this issue will be addressed in our new merial health contrast.
Arkansas	Mr. John Byus	Jahrin Byus@arkamas gw	870.267.6662	Administrator Medical Services	Yes	Very broady. Documented TBI in community with clear functional deficis	Self report or through intole somethy. All mrates	We have recertly added a new subcode to our observation for TBT whe have identified B2 cut of 1950 population hustine A5. Downship that is a complexable understimate.	New addison to dissification gatem. I am cocklet of CTBI Advisory County (We are belong the additions consenting tools for use at rake. The produm is determining brench relative to furnisoral delicits green that there are likely a considerable minimor of immers and minimor TBI with most functional impairment. Also for those that zon trophose for the dark dependent and resources are not available.
Connecticut	Danel Barneth Pty D	dan barnehiligio state ci us	980.582. 761	Dentor of Heath and Addoms	Ves	WOOC medical and mental health of denough of denough of their literatures of their literatures of their denough of their deno	health groteins at proprintate. As pain of this health groteins at proprintate. As pain of this health groteins at proprintate. As pain of this health groteins are propried as a pain of the propried programment of the propried propried and propried programment of the programment o	The numbers of trensies identified by our immodately and head to be a beginning to the control of the control o	Transact Ran Injuries that are identified wit medical and mental health assessment at ratifier incelve intervention and interfainted that considered underlije incelves in the injuries and that considered underlije incelves with considered underline with descriptions of cognitive and mental properties of a service with an injuries case management. Bean Injury Waxwa with chain much racing in the amount of cognitive instruction fellows in proposition of the without profession in the amount of the properties in the amount of the large of the injury of the procession of the injury on the protocopation (the area of the injury on the protocopation (the injuries) cognitive, between and their back of chaining on the injury on the protocopation (the injuries) considered and enhanced and endicated changes in the may accompany beam may, discuss practical areagoner in execution with an injury, including how to adult their own side to follutte probleme resource in the control set of the control with the ministruction.
Florida	Frank Johanson, M.D.	charson frank@mai cs state il us	850.410.4619	Deputy Assistant Secretary of Health Services, Cinical	Yes	We did not use a formal clinical definition of TBI due to the screening at make. However, if an offendie presented, with a formal diagnosis of TBI, we used that	They were identified at intide through a screening tool and self-reporting. Nursing and metall health staff also asked about head fruries.	60% of the population self-reported significant incidences of head righty, 20% self-reported incidence of head righty resulting in hospitalization, unconcludences or significant periods or armesia.	We are in the third year of a grant focusing on this population. The approach is three promped - identification filthough coreening and assessment, developing specific TBI recentions for programming, and release planning for definitions with TBI.
Georgia	Edward R Baley, DO MBA	Geward Realey DO MBA (Daleed) 優化が State palus	404657.2217	Acting Statewide Medical Director	Yes	Most cormonly, it is used as a modifier to a disprisels, such as "beaue disorder specialism," etc.	This is identified by the climbared upon helaty, physical evens and the effect of Tamma on the brain.	Since it is usally identified with a modifier on a diagnosa, there is no easy way for us to retreve the number of individuals having this with nour egister.	NIA,
Idaho	Rona Siegert	rsegeri@doc.idaho.gov	208-658-2047	Health Services Director	Yes	Bran injury due to trauma	A medical scennry - health appraisal - detail neuro evaluation - after Neurologist's consultation.	Do not track at this time	

1 of 3

ASCA Responses: Traumatic Brain Injury Survey - September 2008

Indiana	Amanda Copeland	acopeland@idoc in gov	317.232.1936	Director of Planning & Research	Yes	A head riquity, generally, but not always leading to a period of loss of consciousness		Screening questions as part of the Intake process 85	Screening apesiums as pail of the trider process 55 +4550 or 4/30%
Ø.	Scott A Haas, M.D.	Scott Heaselfing gov	502-561-2220 64 307	Medical Director	Yes	Olfenders have been identified molecularly prough medical and commerce and evaluations and histories. There has been no concerted effort to attent, identification of all Tall immates, to some occasions; lift hury occurred during incarceration which mobel identification simple and immediate.	health re has been dentification casions, th ation which immediate	health the bear of	
Louisiana	Raman Singt M.D.	rsngh@corrections state ta us	225342.1300	Medical/ Merral Health Director	No No				
Michigan	ynda Zeller	Zeller(2@mchgan gov	517.373.3246	Health Services Administrator					
	Shan Burt	shan burt@state mrius	651-361-7229		S S				
	Awel	manam atwell@doc mo.gov	573.634.3283	Division Director	92				
				2					
Nehracka	Shous Kind	was kindinghasis and	400,479,7734	Planning & Research Administrator	2				
	O de casa de c		775.887.3302	100	No				

ASCA Responses: Traumatic Brain Injury Survey - September 2008

New Hampshire	New Hampshire Or Ben Lewis	blewsphrdocstaenhus	603-271-7363	Bureau of Quality Improvement, Compliance and Research	9 <u>2</u>				None
New Jersev	Rabh P Woodward	raith woodwardibbo staterii us	609.994.5845	Medical Director	ž		They are identified by relying on history, physicia We have had only one of findings, and medical records from outside covoless. Year which is 1 in 4000	We have had only one case over the past year which is 1 in 4 000	On the occasions when we have an immate experience TBI, they are managed via an area hospital and an immorbalized treatment for Please metric that we have not had many denotes with TB's as of this date.
New York State	New York State Brian Fischer	CommissionersSecretary@docs state.ny.us   518-457-8	518-457-8134	Commissioner	No				
Ohio	Dr. Robert Hammond	Robert Hammond@odrc.state.oh.us	614.728.1932	Bureau Chief, Mental Health	92				The TDOC has a "special needs" facility designed to handle sub-acute and othronic cases such as TBI
Oklahoma	Michael Jackson	mke jackson@doc state ok us	405962-6130	Chief Medical Officer	2				Two staff trainings by The Brain Injury Association of RI in 2006
Philadelphia	BruceHerdman	bruce herdman@orsons phila gov	2155867814	Chief of Medical Operations	Yes	It varies. Sometimes we don't know who has TBI unit another problem presents itself and then we doodver that it exists.	Offertimes, somebody will self-report brain rigury. Othertimes, we rely on outside medicalimental health records.	Unknown	When necessary, we work with people with TBI individually Other times, a person may be able to cope in general population with few professors. We examine each case individually and make appropriate obesience about care and subcequent referrals when necessary.
Rhode Island	AT Wal, II	at walk@doc.n.gov	401-462-2611	Director	No				We are not planning any changes at this time.
South Carolina	Dept. of Corrections	campbel russel@doc state so us	803866.2707	Director Health Services	No				
South Dakota	Justin L. Faton	justin falon@state sd us	605-367-5162	Merral Health	ž				We do not identify this population and have no plan to larget that population
Tennessee n	Donna White	dorra k white@state in us	615.741-1000	Director	°Z	Reported head trauma, concussion, or neuroological deficit related to head trauma.			they are identified on intake and managed on a case by case basis.
Vermont	Ron Smith	rsmith@doc state M.us	802.241.2298	Chief, Mental Health Services	No				
Washington	Barbara B. Curtis	bbourie@doc l wa gov	360.725.9716	Utrization Review Manager	se),	Through screening questions at make.	number is unknown	number is univoxim	This is an areas that our Department continue to review Currently, most of our information being collected through offender self report. Our department has representation on the Missour Head thrust Advisory Council. This offers us an opportunity to further review our propless.
West Virginia	Jim Rubenstein	Inthens1@mail winet edu	304-558-2036	Commissioner	No.				Our infirmanes are capable of handing these offenders internally.
Wisconsin	James Greer	James Green@wisconsn.gov	608.240.5122	Health Services Director	Yes	Head injury with resulting significant impact on functional abilities	medical exam or by history	less than 1%	TBI immales are provided with the same systemic protections as immales with SMI. Also, appropriate accomadations are made via ADA policy.
Wyoming	L. Sam Borbely	sborbe@wdoc state wy us	307-777-6301	Program Manager	Yes	As an aquired injury to the brain	Both firrough medical and psychological make evail	estimated at 22%	Actively involved in a statewide countal on TBI to increase awarenesse, substantin and steppin of individuals with TBI. Evaluating our intake questions to defermine best ways to capture information about history of TBI.
Total: 29					Yes- 12				

Last updated: 9/4/08 at 5:25 PM 3 of 3 Traumatic Brain Injury Survey

# Appendix 5

# Workgroup

CHAIR: Barry Green – Director Department of Juvenile Justice

Dawn Smith – Assistant for Administration Paul Van Lenten, Jr. – Legislative Fiscal Analyst

The workgroup held three meetings over the summer of 2008 with participation from the following individuals:

# Department of Juvenile Justice

Tim Joost, R.N. - Health Services Unit Administrator Steven Peed, Ph.D. - Director, Behavioral Services Unit

#### **Department of Corrections**

Terri Crisley, R.N. – Chief Nurse Robin Hulburt, Ph.D. – Mental Health Program Director Michael Leininger – Legislative Liaison Harvard Stevens, M.D. – Chief Physician

#### Department of Rehabilitative Services

Mary Margaret Cash – Assistant Commissioner, Director of Community Based Services James Rothrock – Commissioner

#### VCU/MCV Health Center

Aaron Juni, Ph.D. – Post Doctoral Fellow Jeffrey Kreutzer, Ph.D. – Director, VCU TBI Model System

#### Brain Injury Association of Virginia

Anne McDonnell – Executive Director

The workgroup thanks the DJJ Research and Evaluation Unit headed by Lynette Greenfield for their assistance in the preparation of this report.